#### <u>No. 44533-6-II</u>

### COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

vs.

# Jimmy Perkins,

Appellant.

Cowlitz County Superior Court Cause No. 12-1-01152-1

The Honorable Judge Michael H. Evans

# **Appellant's Opening Brief**

Jodi R. Backlund Manek R. Mistry Skylar T. Brett Attorneys for Appellant

### **BACKLUND & MISTRY**

P.O. Box 6490 Olympia, WA 98507 (360) 339-4870 backlundmistry@gmail.com

#

#### **ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR**

- 1. The prosecutor committed misconduct that was flagrant and illintentioned.
- 2. The prosecutor committed misconduct that infringed Mr. Perkins's Fourteenth Amendment right to due process.
- 3. The prosecutor committed misconduct by arguing "facts" not in evidence.
- 4. The prosecutor committed misconduct by asking jurors to convict based on passion, prejudice, and propensity "evidence."

**ISSUE 1:** A prosecutor may not seek a conviction based on passion and prejudice, and may not suggest that an accused person has the propensity to commit the charged crime. Here, the prosecutor told jurors he was afraid Mr. Perkins might assault him, and suggested that he was an assaultive type of person. Did the prosecutor commit misconduct that was flagrant, ill-intentioned, and prejudicial despite the court's attempt at a curative instruction?

- 5. The prosecutor committed misconduct by misstating the law of selfdefense during closing argument.
- 6. The prosecutor's improper arguments relieved the state of its burden to prove the absence of self-defense.
- 7. The prosecutor improperly argued that Mr. Perkins had a duty to retreat.

**ISSUE 2:** A person who believes he is about to be attacked may stand his ground; the law imposes no duty to retreat. Here, the prosecutor argued that Mr. Perkins had a duty to retreat from Mayfield, and thus was not entitled to claim self defense. Did the prosecutor's improper argument relieve the state of its burden to prove the absence of self defense, in violation of Mr. Perkins's Fourteenth Amendment right to due process?

8. The prosecutor improperly argued that Mr. Perkins could not lawfully use force in self-defense until he'd actually been physically attacked.

**ISSUE 3:** The use of force is justified whenever used by a person about to be injured in preventing an offense against his or her person. Here, the prosecutor argued that Mr. Perkins could not use force until Mayfield actually launched a physical attack. Did the prosecutor's argument improperly suggest that Mr. Perkins could not use force to prevent an offense against his person?

- 9. The prosecutor committed misconduct that infringed Mr. Perkins's Sixth and Fourteenth Amendment right to counsel.
- 10. The prosecutor committed misconduct by disparaging the role of defense counsel.

**ISSUE 4:** A prosecutor may not malign an accused person's attorney or disparage the role of defense counsel. Here, the prosecutor argued that defense attorneys get paid to divert the jury's attention from what really happened. Did the prosecutor's misconduct infringe Mr. Perkins's Sixth and Fourteenth Amendment rights to counsel and to due process?

- 11. The prosecutor committed misconduct by claiming that Mr. Perkins had fabricated an incident at trial as a diversion to avoid difficult questions on cross-examination.
- 12. The prosecutor improperly provided a personal opinion on Mr. Perkins's credibility.

**ISSUE 5:** A prosecutor may not "testify" to "facts" not in evidence and should not express a personal opinion as to the credibility of the accused person. Here, the prosecutor accused Mr. Perkins of fabricating an incident at trial and expressed a personal opinion regarding Mr. Perkins's credibility. Did the prosecutor's improper arguments infringe Mr. Perkins's Fourteenth Amendment right to due process?

13. The trial court erred by adding a point to Mr. Perkins's offender score as a result of his community custody status.

**ISSUE 6:** A sentencing court may not add a point to an offender score when the offender was on community custody but residing in jail at the time of the crime. Here, Mr. Perkins was in jail at the time of the offense. Did the trial court err by adding a point to his offender score?

#### **STATEMENT OF FACTS AND PRIOR PROCEEDINGS**

Jimmy Perkins and John Mayfield were cellmates at the Cowlitz County Jail. RP 33, 228. Mayfield was in on an assault charge. RP 94. Mr. Perkins was serving a three-day hold for a probation violation. RP 227.

On Mr. Perkins's last night in jail, Mayfield accused him of leaving toenail clippers on Mayfield's bunk. RP 235-36. The disagreement became physical and the fight ended with Mayfield confining Mr. Perkins in a chokehold. RP 98, 101, 191, 217, 238. An inmate trustee had to ask Mayfield to let Mr. Perkins go because he couldn't breathe. RP 102, 191, 197-98, 217, 238.

For the next half-hour, Mayfield circled the dayroom, calling Mr. Perkins a "punk" and a "bitch." RP 215-16, 239. Mayfield told Mr. Perkins that, as soon as they were locked in their cell for the night, Mayfield was going to rape and beat him.<sup>1</sup> RP 241.

Mr. Perkins kicked off his flip flops and took a fighting stance. RP 108, 242. The two fought again and Mayfield gained the upper hand. RP 108, 134. 192, 244. Mayfield was on top of Mr. Perkins, but jumped off

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Mayfield testified that he told Mr. Perkins that, once they were locked in the cell, he was going to "take care of it in there." RP 102.

when corrections officers entered. RP 134. The officers found Mr.

Perkins and Mayfield lying on opposite sides of a table. RP 62, 149.

Mayfield was taken to the hospital where he found out he had a fractured

cheekbone. RP 170.

The state charged Mr. Perkins with second-degree assault. CP 1.

At trial, Mr. Perkins argued that he had acted in self-defense. RP 307-334.

During Mr. Perkins's testimony, he felt intimidated by Mayfield

watching through the courtroom window. RP 253. Mr. Perkins brought

the issue up and it was quickly resolved. RP 253-5.

In closing, the prosecutor insisted that Mr. Perkins had fabricated

the story that Mayfield was watching him testify in order to divert

attention from his testimony:

He wanted you all to think, "Oh, my goodness." He was really being intimidated by John Mayfield. So what does the Defendant do? "Tell your client, tell your victim to quit intimidating me." And what did you guys all do? You all turned and looked at doors. You looked out there, and you forget for a brief moment what he was saying. RP 302.

The prosecutor also argued that he feared that Mr. Perkins was

going to attack him during cross-examination:

And if you want to talk about being threatened, you saw how the Defendant acted when I pushed his buttons. I thought I was being threatened. I thought I was going to be attacked... RP 339-40.

Mr. Perkins objected to this argument and moved for a mistrial.

RP 340. The court denied the motion, but admonished the jury that the

lawyers' arguments aren't evidence and instructed them to disregard the

prosecutor's statement. RP 345-46.

After the court's instruction, the prosecutor continued to argue that Mr. Perkins's demeanor on cross-examination demonstrated that he is a threatening person:

The point of everything is that the Defendant is the aggressor. He was and is the aggressor. You did see his temper. You did see how quickly he was to rise to anger, and that is suggestive of someone who's going to go attack someone. It is very suggestive of someone who is going to attack someone. RP 346.

In response to Mr. Perkins's self-defense claim, the prosecutor argued that threatening words are not sufficient to permit the use of force in self-defense. RP 294, 338. The prosecutor relied on the adage that "sticks and stones may break my bones but words will never hurt me." RP 294.

The prosecutor claimed that one must be physically attacked in

order to make the use of force lawful:

Now his being attacked -- that is a really, really important distinction here yet, again, and this whole idea of what's [sic] selfdefense is about. That the Defendant had to have reasonable grounds for believing that he is being attacked and to stand his ground. Is being attacked. That's present tense. Right then, right there, he gets to defend himself. Not something in the future, not something an hour-and- a-half later, then, right then, right now, present tense -- is being. That's what has to be going through his brain. Is being attacked. That's what justifies his right to go and beat up John Mayfield. RP 338.

Next, the prosecutor contended that Mr. Perkins could have

avoided the situation by asking to be placed in protective custody:

And if there was such a concern, he had a number of options aside from that. He could have gone to, you know, exclusive custody. He could have gone, pushed one of any of these buttons here, and asked, say, "You know what, I feel like I'm being threatened." "I've got just a little bit of time left to serve out on my DOC hold, and can go." "Can you guys help me?" "Can you get me into protective custody?" He didn't do that. RP 294-95.

Finally, the prosecutor asserted that defense counsel had also used

diversion tactics in order to sway the jury away from the truth:

... [T]hen he used diverting tactics. That's what his defense counsel did here earlier. And that's what they get paid to do. Come here and divert your attention from what really happened. RP 346.

The jury convicted Mr. Perkins of assault in the second degree. RP

356. The court added a point to his offender score for being under

community custody when the offense occurred. CP 4. This timely appeal

follows. CP 16.

#### **ARGUMENT**

# I. PROSECUTORIAL MISCONDUCT DENIED MR. PERKINS A FAIR TRIAL.

#### A. Standard of Review.

A prosecutor commits misconduct by making improper statements that prejudice the accused. *In re Glasmann*, 175 Wn.2d 696, 704, 286 P.3d 673 (2012). Absent an objection, a court can consider prosecutorial misconduct for the first time on appeal, and must reverse if the misconduct was flagrant and ill-intentioned. *Id*.

Furthermore, an appellant can argue prosecutorial misconduct for the first time on review if it creates manifest error affecting a constitutional right. RAP 2.5(a)(3). A reviewing court analyzes the prosecutor's statements during closing in the context of the case as a whole. *State v. Jones*, 144 Wn. App. 284, 291, 183 P.3d 307 (2008).

B. The prosecutor committed numerous instances of prejudicial misconduct.

Prosecutorial misconduct can deprive the accused of a fair trial. *Glasmann*, 175 Wn.2d at 703-04; U.S. Const. Amend VI, XIV, Wash. Const. art. I, § 22. To determine whether a prosecutor's misconduct warrants reversal, the court looks at its prejudicial nature and cumulative effect. *State v. Boehning*, 127 Wn. App. 511, 518, 111 P.3d 899 (2005). A prosecutor's improper statements prejudice the accused if they create a substantial likelihood that the verdict was affected. *Glasmann*, 175 Wn.2d at 704. The inquiry must look to the misconduct and its impact, not the evidence that was properly admitted. *Id.* at 711.

Prosecutorial misconduct during argument can be particularly prejudicial because of the risk that the jury will lend it special weight "not only because of the prestige associated with the prosecutor's office but also because of the fact-finding facilities presumably available to the office." Commentary to the *American Bar Association Standards for Criminal Justice* std. 3–5.8 (cited by *Glasmann*, 175 Wn.2d at 706).

1. The prosecutor committed misconduct by arguing that he feared Mr. Perkins would assault him.

An accused person enjoys a constitutional right to an impartial jury. Wash. Const. art. I, § 22. A prosecutor must "seek conviction based only on probative evidence and sound reason." *Glasmann*, 175 Wn.2d at 704. It is misconduct for a prosecutor to make arguments designed to inflame the passions or prejudices of the jury. *Id.* Likewise, a prosecutor may not use "his or her position of power and prestige" to sway the jury by expressing a personal opinion of guilt independent of the evidence in the case. *Id.*  Additionally, evidence of the accused's character is not admissible to prove action in conformity therewith on a particular occasion. ER 404(a). A prosecutor commits misconduct by arguing that the accused's "bad character" is evidence of guilt. *Washington v. Hofbauer*, 228 F.3d 689, 699 (6th Cir. 2000). Finally, it is misconduct for a prosecutor to use "other acts" evidence to argue that the accused had the propensity to commit a crime. *State v. Fisher*, 165 Wn.2d 727, 748-49, 202 P.3d 937 (2009).

Prosecutorial misconduct can be so flagrant and prejudicial that it cannot be remedied by a curative instruction. *State v. Stith*, 71 Wn. App. 14, 22-23, 856 P.2d 415 (1993); *see also Fisher*, 165 Wn.2d at 749. For example, misconduct that is flagrant, highly prejudicial, and based on "facts" not in evidence requires reversal even if the trial court gives a curative instruction. *Stith*, 71 Wn. App. at 23.

Similarly, a curative instruction is insufficient if it tells the jury to disregard the improper argument's evidentiary value but does not tell jurors not to use the information to assess the accused person's propensity to commit the crime. *Fisher*, 165 Wn.2d at 749.

Here, the prosecutor argued that he thought Mr. Perkins was going to attack him:

And if you want to talk about is being threatened, you saw how the Defendant acted when I pushed his buttons. I thought I was being threatened. I thought I was going to be attacked... RP 339-40.

Mr. Perkins objected and moved for a mistrial. RP 340. The court

denied the motion but gave the following admonition to the jury:

[R]emember that the lawyers' statements are not evidence. You must disregard any remark, statement, or argument ... that is not supported by the evidence or the law in my ... instructions... The Prosecutor made an argument regarding Mr. Perkins' demeanor on the stand yesterday and his feelings about that. You are instructed to disregard that. RP 345-46.

After the court's instruction, however, the prosecutor continued in

the same vein:

The point of everything is that the Defendant is the aggressor. He was and is the aggressor. You did see his temper. You did see how quickly he was to rise to anger, and that is suggestive of someone who's going to go attack someone. It is very suggestive of someone who is going to attack someone. RP 346.

The prosecutor's argument impermissibly encouraged the jury to

convict Mr. Perkins based on passion, prejudice, and propensity evidence

rather than the facts of the case. Fisher, 165 Wn.2d at 748-49. It also

impermissibly put forward Mr. Perkins's "bad character" as evidence of

guilt. Hofbauer, 228 F.3d at 699. Mr. Perkins's defense relied on the idea

that he had fought Mayfield not because he wanted to but because he had

to. The prosecutor's improper arguments portraying Mr. Perkins as the type of person who attacks people prejudiced his defense.

The court's instruction was insufficient to cure the prejudicial effect of the improper argument. *Stith*, 71 Wn. App. at 22-23. The court should have ordered jurors not to consider any alleged propensity toward assaultive behavior. *Fisher*, 165 Wn.2d at 749. In addition, the prosecutor continued the line of argument after the court's attempt to cure. RP 346. This exacerbated the error, and further blunted the effect of the court's instruction.

The prosecutor's statement that he feared that Mr. Perkins would assault him and that Mr. Perkins is the type of person who would attack someone constituted flagrant, ill-intentioned, and prejudicial misconduct that could not be cured by the court's instruction. *Fisher*, 165 Wn.2d at 748-49. Mr. Perkins's conviction must be reversed. *Id*.

2. The prosecutor committed misconduct by mischaracterizing the law of self-defense.

When an accused person properly raises self-defense, the state must prove beyond a reasonable doubt that the use of force was not lawful. *State v. McCreven*, 170 Wn. App. 444, 462, 284 P.3d 793 (2012) *review denied*, 176 Wn.2d 1015, 297 P.3d 708 (2013). An accused person is denied a fair trial when the prosecutor mischaracterizes the law, if there is a substantial likelihood that the mischaracterization affected the jury verdict. *State v. Walker*, 164 Wn. App. 724, 736, 265 P.3d 191 (2011), *as amended* (Nov. 18, 2011), *review granted, cause remanded*, 164 Wn.2d 724, 295 P.3d 728 (2012).<sup>2</sup> A prosecutor's misstatement of the law is "a serious irregularity having the grave potential to mislead the jury." *Id.* Specifically, it is misconduct for a prosecutor to misstate the law in a way that lowers the state's burden of proof regarding the lawful use of force. *McCreven*, 170 Wn. App. at 471.

Improper argument mischaracterizing the law of self-defense requires reversal unless the state can show that it was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. *Id.* 

a. The prosecutor mischaracterized the law of self-defense by arguing that Mr. Perkins had a duty to retreat.

In Washington, a person who believes s/he is being attacked has no duty to retreat. S/he is entitled to use force in self-defense. *State v. Jordan*, 158 Wn. App. 297, 301 n. 6, 241 P.3d 464 (2010).

In Mr. Perkins's case, the jury was instructed that a person does not have the duty to retreat to avoid the lawful use of force. CP 50.

 $<sup>^{2}</sup>$  In an unpublished decision, the Court of Appeals affirmed its prior decision on remand.

Nonetheless, the prosecutor argued that Mr. Perkins's use of force was

unreasonable because he could have asked to be placed in protective

custody:

And if there was such a concern, he had a number of options aside from that. He could have gone to, you know, exclusive custody. He could have gone, pushed one of any of these buttons here, and asked, say, "You know what, I feel like I'm being threatened." "I've got just a little bit of time left to serve out on my DOC hold, and can go." "Can you guys help me?" "Can you get me into protective custody?" He didn't do that. RP 294-95.

Later, referring to the locations of the buttons to call for help from

corrections officers, the prosecutor argued that:

He had other options, and he chose to show that he wasn't a punk bitch. All these red "X's" are other options, and not once did he take those other options. Instead, he created an option. RP 339.

The prosecutor's argument that Mr. Perkins's use of force was not

lawful because he had the option of retreat misstated the law of self-

defense and lowered the state's burden of proof. McCreven 170 Wn.

App. at 471. Mr. Perkins's self-defense claim made up his entire case.

The prosecutor's mischaracterization of the law prejudiced Mr. Perkins.

The state cannot show that the improper argument was harmless beyond a

reasonable doubt. *Id.* The prosecutor's improper argument requires

reversal of Mr. Perkins's conviction. Id.

b. The prosecutor mischaracterized the law of self-defense by arguing that Mr. Perkins was not entitled to defend himself until he was being physically attacked.

The use of force is lawful "whenever used by a party about to be injured." RCW 9A.16.020(3). A self-defense claim is evaluated "from the standpoint of the reasonably prudent person, knowing all the defendant knows and seeing all the defendant sees." *State v. Irons*, 101 Wn. App. 544, 549-50, 4 P.3d 174 (2000); *McCreven* 170 Wn. App. at 462. The accused must believe that s/he is in imminent danger. *State v. George*, 161 Wn. App. 86, 99, 249 P.3d 202 (2011) *review denied*, 172 Wn.2d 1007, 259 P.3d 1108 (2011). Imminent danger does not require a physical attack – a danger that is "hanging threateningly over one's head" can suffice. *Id. (quoting State v. Janes*, 121 Wn.2d 220, 241, 850 P.2d 495 (1993)).

The court instructed the jury that if Mr. Perkins reasonably believed that he was about to be injured, that entitled him to use necessary force to prevent or attempt to prevent that injury. CP 48.

Nonetheless, the prosecutor argued that Mayfield's threatening words did not entitle Mr. Perkins to use self-defense:

> [T]here's an old saying "Sticks and stones may break my bones, but words may never hurt me." And you heard something about the code of the jail... [When] you call someone ... a "bitch" or a "punk," you've just made them into a "bitch" or a "punk" unless

they stand up for themselves... That's a choice that someone makes to either abide by that code or not abide by that code. RP 294.

Similarly, the prosecutor argued that Mr. Perkins was not entitled

to use force against Mayfield until he was being physically attacked:

[T]he Defendant had to have reasonable grounds for believing that he is being attacked and to stand his ground. Is being attacked. That's present tense. Right then, right there, he gets to defend himself. Not something in the future, not something an hour-anda-half later, then, right then, right now, present tense -- is being. That's what has to be going through his brain. Is being attacked. That's what justifies his right to go and beat up John Mayfield. RP 338.

This argument was misconduct, because it misstated the law of self-defense. *Janes*, 121 Wn.2d at 241.

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