NO. 44533-6-II

**IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF
WASHINGTON,**

DIVISION II

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

vs.

JIMMY PERKINS,

Appellant.

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF

SUSAN I. BAUR
Prosecuting Attorney
JASON LAURINE/WSBA 36871
Deputy Prosecuting Attorney
Representing Respondent

HALL OF JUSTICE
312 SW FIRST
KELSO, WA 98626
(360) 577-3080

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

v. Warren, 165 Wash.2d 17, 26, 195 P.3d 940 (2008). The defendant establishes prejudice by proving there is a substantial likelihood the instances of alleged misconduct affected the jury's verdict. *Magers*, 164 Wash.2d at 191, 189 P.3d 126.

Where a defendant objected to an alleged instance of misconduct, the court should evaluate the trial court's ruling for abuse of discretion. *State v. Gregory*, 158 Wash.2d 759, 809, 147 P.3d 1201 (2006). The failure to object to an improper remark constitutes a waiver of error unless the remark is so flagrant and ill-intentioned that it causes an enduring and resulting prejudice that could not have been neutralized by an admonition to the jury. *State v. Russell*, 125 Wash.2d 24, 86, 882 P.2d 747 (1994), *cert denied*, 514 U.S. 1129, 115 S.Ct. 2004, 131 L.Ed.2d 1005 (1995); *accord State v. Fisher*, 165 Wash.2d 727, 747, 202 P.3d 937 (2009).

A prosecutor does have wide latitude to argue reasonable inferences from the evidence. *State v. Thorgerson*, 172 Wash.2d 438, 448, 258 P.3d 43 (2011). Still a prosecutor must seek convictions based on probative evidence and sound reason. *State v. Casteneda-Perez*, 61 Wash.App. 354, 363, 810 P.2d 74 (1991). In making his case to a jury, a prosecutor should not use arguments calculated to inflame the passions or

prejudices of the jury. *State v. Brett*, 126 Wash.2d 136, 179, 892 P.2d 29 (1995).

1. The prosecutor's comments were based on the appellant's behavior during testimony.

References to evidence outside of the record and bald appeals to passion and prejudice constitute misconduct. *State v. Belgarde*, 110 Wash.2d 504, 507-08, 755 P.2d 174 (1988).

While the prosecutor's reference to how the appellant's behavior made him feel during his cross examination was irrelevant to the trial, the appellant's behavior was not. Indeed, the State and defense were both allowed to make arguments based on in-court behavior. *State v. Gregory*, 158 Wash.2d 759, 860, 147 P.3d 1201 (2006). Jury Instruction 1, as read to the jury by the trial court states, in relevant part:

You are the sole judges of the credibility of each witness. You are also the sole judges of the value or weight to be given to the testimony of each witness. In considering a witness's testimony, you may consider these things: the opportunity of the witness to observe or know the things he or she testifies about; the ability of the witness to observe accurately; the quality of a witness's memory while testifying; *the manner of the witness while testifying*; any personal interest that the witness might have in the outcome or the issues; any bias or prejudice that the witness may have shown; the reasonableness of the witness's statements in the context of all of the other evidence; and any other factors that

affect your evaluation or belief of a witness or your evaluation of his or her testimony. (emphasis added).

The appellant improperly assumes that because his behavior in court was the type that would suggest he had violent tendencies it should not have been discussed. Had the appellant not acted aggressively during cross examination his behavior would not have been discussed, but he did. The appellant cannot act in a way that places him in peril and then cry foul.

Despite video evidence that showed the appellant run across the common area of the jail pod and attack the victim, the appellant claimed he did so in self-defense. The state had to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that he did not act in self-defense. Here, the prosecutor argued from the aggressor instruction. Instruction 14. The instruction states a defendant cannot claim self-defense if he started the fight:

No person may, by any intentional act, reasonably likely to provoke a belligerent response, create a necessity for acting in self-defense and thereupon use force upon or toward another person. Therefore, if you find beyond a reasonable doubt that the defendant was the aggressor, and that the defendant's acts and conduct provoked or commenced the fight, the self-defense is not available as a defense.

Arguments must be taken in the context and circumstances of the entire trial and record. Magers, 164 Wash.2d at 191, 189 P.3d 126. The

appellant highlights only those areas of the record that would support his contention and not the entire context of the argument. The entire relevant portion of that argument went thus:

The point of everything is that the defendant is the aggressor. He was and is the aggressor. You did see his temper. You did see how quickly he was to rise to anger, and that is suggestive of someone who's going to go attack someone. It is very suggestive of someone who is going to attack someone. When he's caught in certain areas where he's unable to change his story or talk his way out of it, the defendant was—quickly resorted to flashing anger, quickly. And if that didn't work for him, then he used diverting tactics. RP 346.

This argument was the same as the argument made prior to the prosecutor's attestation of his own fear during cross-examination. The prosecutor argued that because the appellant bided his time, motioned for Mayfield to come to him, calculated the right time to was the aggressor and attacker, and that he bided his time, calculating the right time to jump Mayfield, he was the aggressor in the attack and not entitled to claim self-defense. The prosecutor used the appellant's threatening nature during his testimony not to inflame the passions of the jury, but as an example of the level of calculation he took before attacking John Mayfield.

I thought I was going to be attacked, and did I? Did I jump over that box and punch him? I didn't. I was a little concerned, but I didn't punch him. Twenty minutes he waited as John Mayfield walked around. RP 340.

The statement was made within the context of the aggressor argument, not in the context of whether the jury should convict based on the prosecutor's feelings. The court instructed the jury that the prosecutor's feelings were to be disregarded and no further mention of them was made. This returned the jury's attention to the primary argument—that of whether or not the appellant was the aggressor. Enough evidence showed that indeed he was.

Still, the appellant argues that the court should have ordered the jury to disregard any reference to the appellant's demeanor even though the jury instructions are clear they can use such behavior when considering the credibility of the testimony and the evidence given as a whole. It is the appellant's burden to show there was a substantial likelihood the instance of alleged misconduct affected the jury's verdict. *Magers*, 164 Wash.2d at 191, 189 P.3d 126. He has failed to do so.

2. The prosecutor's comments were based on the appellant's behavior during his testimony and were not intended to inflame the prejudice of the jury.

It was not error for the prosecutor to comment upon the credibility of the appellant's testimony. Nor was it error to discuss his behavior during that testimony.

It is error to submit evidence to the jury that has not been admitted at trial. Consideration of any material by the jury not properly admitted as evidence vitiates a verdict when there is a reasonable ground to believe that the defendant may have been prejudiced. *State v. Pete*, 152 Wash.2d 546, 555, 98 P.3d 803 (2004); *In Re Glassmann*, 175 Wash.2d 696, 705, 286 P.3d 673 (2012)(where the prosecutor presented copies of the defendant's booking photos that had not been admitted into evidence for the jury to review when considering the defendant's guilt was error); *State v. Rinke*, 70 Wash.2d 854, 862, 425 P.2d 658 (1967)(it was prejudicial when a newspaper editorial and cartoon critical of court decisions and liberal probation policies was inadvertently sent to the jury).

Comments that encourage the jury to render a verdict on facts not in evidence are improper. *State v. Stover*, 67 Wash.App. 228, 230–31, 834 P.2d 671 (1992). A prosecutor has “no right to call to the attention of the jury matters or considerations which the jurors have no right to consider.” *State v. Case*, 49 Wash.2d 66, 71, 298 P.2d 500 (1956). Reversal is not required, however, unless there is a substantial likelihood that the improper comments, remarks, or argument affected the jury's verdict. *State v. Brown*, 132 Wash.2d 529, 561, 940 P.2d 546 (1997).

In a discussion of the video (Exhibit 1) that was admitted into evidence, the prosecutor pointed to the discrepancies within the appellant's story and what was shown to happen during the live recording of the event. RP 297-305. In one portion of that argument, the prosecutor discussed the appellant's actions during cross-examination.

And this is a key discrepancy—he said that John was in this corner, and yesterday I had him point out on this map that John was in this corner. John was in this corner when he kicked off his slippers. And John was in this corner, getting in his stance to fight him. And here's another thing. When I had him pinpoint it on that, and he couldn't get out of that statement, as a person who knew he was caught in that statement, he wanted to divert your attention. He wanted you to think, "oh, my goodness. He was really being intimidated by John Mayfield." So, what does the defendant do? "Tell your client, tell your victim to quit intimidating me." And what did you guys all do? You all turned and looked at the doors. You looked out there, and you forgot for a brief moment what he was saying. RP 302.

Attorneys are permitted to discuss the behavior and actions of witnesses during their testimony at trial. A prosecutor has wide latitude in closing argument to draw reasonable inferences from the evidence and may freely comment on witness credibility based on the evidence. *Gregory*, 158 Wash.2d at 860, 147 P.3d 1201. Indeed, the jury was advised by Instruction 1 that they could consider those aspects of testimony in their deliberations of the case.

When a defendant chooses to testify, a jury must be able to consider his credibility. If, as the United States Supreme Court held in *U.S. v. Robinson*, 485 U.S. 25, 33, 108 S.Ct. 864, 99 L.Ed.2d 23 (1988) it is important that both the defendant and the prosecutor have the opportunity to meet fairly the evidence and arguments of one another, the State should be permitted to discuss a defendant's behavior as he testified during trial. This is especially so if the defendant impugns the credibility of the complaining witness as often as the appellant did in the present case.

Here, the prosecutor did not give an opinion on the appellant's credibility. Neither did the prosecutor discuss issues and events outside those that took place during trial. Nowhere in the record is it suggested that the appellant took exception with the prosecutor's characterization of his behavior as diversion tactics. Consequently, appellant has failed to show that the comments were either improper or resulted in any prejudice.

3. Self-defense is viewed through the reasonable person standard.

It is a question for the trial court to address whether a defendant has presented evidence of self-defense. *State v. Walden*, 131 Wash.2d 469, 473, 932 P.2d 1237 (1997). To be entitled to a jury instruction on self-defense, the defendant must produce some evidence demonstrating self-

defense. Once that has been done, the burden shifts to the prosecution to prove the absence of self-defense beyond a reasonable doubt. *Walden*, 131 Wash.2d at 473-74. The degree of force used in self-defense is limited to what a reasonably prudent person would find necessary under the conditions as they appeared to the defendant. *Walden*, 131 Wash.2d at 747, 932 P.2d 1237.

While the prosecutor did argue that alternatives to assault existed for the appellant to use, as came out in evidence, he did not mischaracterize the law of self-defense. Self-defense is viewed through the reasonably prudent person standard, a permissible area for argument. *Walden*, 131 Wash.2d at 473-74, 932 P.2d 1237. Appellant's complaint would remove any ability for the state to argue against the reasonableness of the force used or the option of self-defense at all. Essentially, appellant contends the state should not be allowed to argue against self-defense once it has been alleged.

If the state is held to prove the absence of self-defense beyond a reasonable doubt it must be allowed to discuss the reasonableness of the force used and whether that force was actually used in self-defense. Indeed, instruction 13, as read to the jury, states clearly that:

The person using or offering to use the force may employ such force and means as a reasonably prudent person would use under the same or similar conditions as they appeared to the person, taking into consideration all of the facts and circumstances known to the person at the time of and prior to the incident.

This is the argument the prosecutor made as he pointed out all the options and all the circumstances available or known to the appellant at the time of the assault. It was a permissible argument on the issue of whether the appellant acted reasonably within that situation and it did not shift the burden of proof.

4. The prosecutor based his arguments against self-defense on the reasonableness standard.

The State must prove that the defendant did not act in self-defense beyond a reasonable doubt. This can be done by any number of ways, but always done through argument of the evidence before the jury and the reasonable person standard. *Walden*, 131 Wash.2d at 473-74, 932 P.2d 1237. A defendant may claim self-defense, but his actions and the degree of force he uses will always be limited to “what a reasonably prudent person would find necessary under the conditions as they appeared to the defendant.” *Walden*, 131 Wash.2d at 474, citing *State v. Bailey*, 22 Wash.App. 646, 650, 591 P.2d 1212 (1979).

The appellant again contends that the State is not allowed to argue its theory of the case by making reasonable inferences from the evidence and the jury instructions. A prosecutor does have wide latitude to argue reasonable inferences from the evidence. *Thorgerson*, 172 Wash.2d at 448, 258 P.3d 43.

Here, the prosecutor discussed the differences between unfettered use of violence and the justified use of violence for self-defense. The prosecutor argued:

Now, his (Mayfield) being attacked—that is a really, really important distinction here yet, again, and this whole idea of what's self-defense all about. That the defendant had to have reasonable grounds for believing that he is being attacked and to stand his ground. Is being attacked. That's the present tense. Right then, right there, he gets to defend himself. Not something in the future, not something an hour and a half later. Then. Right then, right now, present tense—is being. That's what has to be going through his brain. Is being attacked. That's what justifies his right to go and beat up John Mayfield.

You saw the video. Was he being attacked? No. What he did was—he kicked off his slipper, went around these tables, and went at John Mayfield who was not expecting him. The person being attacked was John Mayfield, and John Mayfield was allowed to pick the defendant up and put him on the ground. He was allowed to do that...

The defendant is not allowed to kick off his slippers and track him (Mayfield) over this area and fight him. He's not allowed to do it. Because he is not being attacked. He is the attacker.

The prosecutor argued the law as provided to the jury in the jury instructions. In fact, the language the appellant complains of was taken directly from Instruction 14A, which instructs the jury that a person has the right to stand his ground and defend himself if he is in a place where he has a right to be. But that instruction does not provide a defendant unrestricted license to beat people up simply because he is in a place he has a right to be. Rather, the instruction clearly states that a defendant can use lawful force if he “has reasonable grounds for believing that he is being attacked.” The prosecutor directed the jury’s attention to the word “is” because it was important to understand every nuance of self-defense. The prosecutor made clear that the defendant had to reasonably believe that he was being attacked at that very moment, presently, as “is” is the third person singular, present tense of the verb “to be.”

This was a permissible argument and did not shift the burden. Moreover, because the appellant failed to object to the remarks, any errors he complains of are waived unless he is able to establish the remarks were so flagrant and ill-intentioned they caused an enduring and resulting prejudice that an instruction to the jury cured the prejudice. *Thorgerson*, 172 Wash.2d at 443, 258 P.3d 43. The appellant has not shown that the prosecutor’s argument was flagrant and ill-intentioned. Nor

has he shown that permissible argument was error. Consequently, his claim fails.

5. The prosecutor's improper comment is not reversible error because it was not flagrant and ill-intentioned.

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